GOVERNANCE, RISK AND AUDIT COMMITTEE

Minutes of the meeting of the Governance, Risk and Audit Committee held on
Tuesday, 3 December 2019 at the Council Chamber - Council Offices, Holt Road,
Cromer, NR27 9EN at 2.00 pm

Committee
Members Present:
Mr J Rest (Chairman) Mr S Penfold (Vice-Chairman)
Mr T Adams Mr C Cushing
Mrs J Stenton Mr J Toye
Mr N Dixon (Observer) Mr E Seward (Observer)
Members also
attending:
Officers in
Attendance:
Internal Audit Manager, Democratic Services Manager, Head of Legal
& Monitoring Officer and Head of Finance and Asset
Management/Section 151 Officer
23 TO RECEIVE APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

24

25

26

27

28

29

None received.

SUBSTITUTES

None.

PUBLIC QUESTIONS

None received.

ITEMS OF URGENT BUSINESS
None.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
None.

MINUTES

The minutes of the meeting held on 10" September were approved as a correct
record and signed by the Chairman.

PROGRESS REPORT ON INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITY: 30 AUGUST 2019 TO 21
NOVEMBER 2019

The Internal Audit Manager introduced the report which covered the period from 30



30

August to 21 November 2019. She drew Members’ attention to section 2.1 which
highlighted two additional audits — for the Sheringham Leisure Centre and the
Egmere Business Zone. Both had come forward at the request of the Chairman.

Regarding the progress made in delivering the agreed audit work (section 3 of the
report), the Internal Audit Manager said that quarters 1 and 2 were both on track.

She then referred to the outcomes from the individual audits that had been
undertaken. Coastal Management had received substantial assurance with no
recommendations. Section 106 Agreements had received a ‘reasonable’ assurance
with 5 ‘important’ recommendations made. The positive findings recognised that a
complete list of S106 agreements since 2009 had been produced to ensure that a
full record was on the new system from the date of its implementation. In addition,
all necessary consultations were now being conducted for new S106 agreements
with other Council departments and third parties.

FOLLOW-UP ON INTERNAL AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS 1 APRIL TO 21
NOVEMBER 2019

The Internal Audit Manager introduced this item. She explained that this was the first
follow-up for the current financial year — covering progress made on the
implementation of agreed audit recommendations due for completion between 1%
April to 21st November 2019. She said that there were six outstanding
recommendations for 2018/19 — three were important and three needed attention.
She referred Members to the update from the Head of Environmental Health which
outlined how he intended to address the recommendations relating to his service
area. He had outlined that his priority had been the procurement process around the
waste and related services contract and this had taken up a significant amount of his
time over a prolonged period. In addition, two key members of his team had left the
Authority, reducing his capacity further.

1. Clir S Penfold asked whether this was a typical number of historic
recommendations. The Internal Audit Manager replied that across the
consortium she would expect that some would be closed off by year end,
however, generally there would be an explanation as to why there was a
delay if they were not.

2. ClIr C Cushing queried the meaning of Priority 2 as a recommendation.
Internal Audit Manager explained that it meant ‘Important’, with Priority three
meaning ‘needs attention’. Clir Cushing went onto say that he was concerned
that the important recommendations were being allowed to drift for 2 years.
He referred to the deadlines of one month for Priority 1, three months for
Priority 2 and six months for Priority 3, saying that, in practice, they did not
seem to apply. He requested an update to ensure that Members were aware
of anything that was outstanding. He then asked whether the due date was
amended to reflect missed target dates. The Internal Audit Manager
confirmed that it was and this was captured in the ‘Revised due date’ column.

3. The Chairman queried whether the original deadlines were actually
achievable. The Internal Audit Manager replied that they always worked with
managers to try and ensure that they were achievable. The Monitoring
Officer added that the targets were set with service managers. As there were
currently several outstanding recommendations then they would be
escalated to Strategic Leadership Team (SLT) so that they could pick up any
issues with the relevant service managers.

4. The Chairman made reference to the additional information provided in
relation to the Environmental Heath outstanding recommendations. He said



31

that it was not helpful to receive it on the day of the meeting. He accepted
that there were valid reasons on this occasion but Members needed time to
read and absorb the content.

It was proposed by ClIr J Rest, seconded by Clir J Toye and
RESOLVED

To refer all outstanding audit recommendations to SLT for action with a request
that progress is reported back to the Committee.

CIVIL CONTINGENCIES UPDATE - 2019

The Resilience Manager introduced this item. She said that the last 12 months had
been very busy with 16 recorded incidents compared to two the previous year.

She explained that the Council was working with partners in the Norfolk Resilience
Forum to help plan for a no-deal exit from the EU. Most of the planning was sensitive
so she advised that any questions relating to this should be directed to herself.

The Resilience Manager then outlined the business continuity incidents from the
previous 12 months, highlighting the media response to the sand martins netting as
a particularly challenging incident.

She then spoke about business continuity management arrangements and the
introduction of new more user-friendly templates for Business Impact Analysis (BIA)
and Business Continuity Plan documents. The BIA template would be introduced by
the end of March 2020, with the Corporate Business Continuity Plan being revised
based on the data from the BIAs.

The Resilience Manager then outlined emergency planning incidents from the
previous 12 months. She explained that staffing issues within the Environment
Agency were having a knock-on effect causing issues for flood wardens and local
communities. A session was being planned with other local authorities and
community representatives to address concerns.

She concluded by saying that there was a resource issue in the Civil Contingencies
team and this meant that it was less strategic than she would like. It was hoped that
this could be addressed by providing a development opportunity within the team.

1. The Chairman asked for more information on the proposed session regarding
the Environment Agency. The Resilience Manager explained that it would
involve flood forecasting and talking through models. It was hoped that it
could take place before the December high tides but this was looking
unlikely. The purpose of it was to increase partners’ confidence levels. She
confirmed that it was open to members to attend.

2. ClIr N Dixon asked the following in relation to the IT disruption at the Council
offices in June 2019; was she satisfied with the adequacy of the action plan?,
had the action plan been shared with the Governance, Risk & Audit
Committee (GRAC) at all? And were there plans to include a process or
mechanism to notify members of future IT problems — for example, by text
message? The Resilience Manager replied that she was satisfied with the
action plan. She had prepared it with input from the Head of IT & Business
Transformation. The action plan had not been shared with GRAC and she
was not sure who had signed it off. The Internal Audit Manager added that a



32

business continuity audit was planned for Q4 and the action plan would be
picked up as part of this process. In response to the last question regarding
notifying members, the Resilience Manager confirmed that she would notify
the Democratic Services Manager and that the IT department were looking at
an NNDC wide option — such as WhatsApp groups.

3. The Chairman asked when the Resilience Manager saw the report from the
Head of IT. She replied that she had provided her report to him in September
but had not seen his response. The Monitoring Officer added that the Action
Plan was shared with members as part of the Leader’s portfolio report to
Council in September 2019.

4. CliIr Dixon said that he was mindful of the impact that the IT outage had had
on the organisation and he felt that it should be scrutinised by a committee
so that there was a higher degree of assurance. The Monitoring Officer
replied that it could be brought back to GRAC. The Internal Audit Manager
added that it could be incorporated into the scope of the Q4 audit review of
business continuity.

5. The Chairman said that he wanted to clarify the process for agreeing the
action plan for the IT disruption. He asked the Resilience Manager to confirm
that she had prepared the initial document which the Head of IT had then
contributed to before it was shared at Full Council. She said that this was
correct. He then asked whether the information that the Head of IT had
added was important to her and her role. She said that it was.

CORPORATE RISK REGISTER

The Head of Finance introduced this item. He said that it was a short update report
in response to issues raised at the last meeting. He said that the last update to the
Risk Management Policy & Framework was approved by GRAC in March 2018, with
the next one scheduled for March 2020. The policy set the framework for the
Council’'s Corporate Risk Register which monitored and tracked the Council’s most
significant risks. Following the introduction of governance improvements, the risk
register was now a standing item on Strategic Leadership Team (SLT) agendas and
reported every quarter. He said that historic data had been cleaned up and only the
last 12 months was presented now.

Regarding project risks, the Head of Finance said that consideration needed to be
given as to how to feed these into the Corporate Risk Register (CRR). He added that
they would be reported but as a separate register. In addition, the Corporate Plan
would also drive some of the items in the CRR. The Council’'s new performance
system, InPhase, would be beneficial for reporting on risk as it would allow for the
tracking of ‘live’ data. He went onto say that the Council’s risk appetite and
tolerance had never been explored with Members. It was intended to discuss this
with the Chairman of GRAC, Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Cabinet
members to agree where the Council was comfortable as an authority.

The Head of Finance concluded by saying that an audit of risk management was
scheduled for Q4. It was intended that the draft improvements to the Risk
Management Policy and Framework would be written and then audited so that
improvements could be built in. GRAC could also feed into the development of the

policy.

1. The Chairman asked whether income from the New Homes Bonus (NHB)
could help with the Sheringham Leisure Centre (Splash) costs. The Head of
Finance replied that a £1m gap was still forecast.

2. ClIr N Dixon said that he welcomed the review of risk appetite. He said that



he would like to see a risk recognition process included, adding that it was
important that there was an appreciation of the bigger picture otherwise
everything ‘downstream’ would be awry. He went onto say that the risk
register should be a dynamic document and there was a need to be able to
track whether mitigation measures were effective.

3. ClIr C Cushing asked who updated the risk register and how frequently. The
Head of Finance replied that he updated it, with individual officers updating
via InPhase. He said that he updated it as soon as he was aware of a risk
and reported when appropriate. He confirmed that SLT were the risk owners.
The Monitoring Officer added that the CRR covered high level risks, with
lower level risks being allocated to individual officers. InPhase would allow
for the ‘drilling down’ from strategic to operational level. Responsibility for risk
was a Cabinet function so it would come to GRAC first then Cabinet. She
said that there was an ongoing project management review and this had
highlighted that the Council needed to learn to look at risks going forward.
Consequently there would be an assessment of risk right at the beginning of
a project.

4. Clir Penfold asked whether the process was being made more robust or
whether these precautions had always been taken. The Monitoring Officer
replied that projects came from all over the place and that there had been too
open a gateway previously. Rigour and challenge was lacking at the early
stages of the process and these changes would help ensure that everyone
was clear on the outcomes. A ‘stop go’ process was also being introduced to
control projects more effectively.

5. ClIir Penfold asked whether officers ever felt pressured by members into
taking risks that they were uncomfortable with. The Monitoring Officer replied
that it was possible that some junior officers may struggle with ‘speaking truth
to power but added that it was the role of the statutory officers to build in
protection. She said that the Council operated a very open culture and that
challenge was important and should be valued.

6. Clir J Toye questioned whether Members had the knowledge and ability to
challenge effectively. He asked whether more training was required. The
Monitoring Officer replied that the procedures around risk were reviewed and
changed then training would be provided for Members.

7. ClIr C Cushing asked if there was a portfolio for projects or whether they sat
under the remit of a Board. The Monitoring Officer replied that all executive
projects were reported to Cabinet to ensure that they had oversight. Working
parties of Cabinet and Overview & Scrutiny Committee would provide the
‘critical friend’ role and GRAC would oversee risk and governance. Officers
would take on the operational monitoring role with Members taking on the
strategic overview and goal setting.

8. ClIr Cushing asked if projects were reviewed regularly. The Monitoring
Officer confirmed that SLT reviewed them on a strategic and operational
level. She said that where outcomes weren’t being met then there should be
an intervention. If the Council was going to fail then it should fail fast.

9. ClIr E Seward, Portfolio Holder for Finance, said that from a financial point of
view it was hard to plan for future revenue and it was important that there
was a healthy and robust approach to assets. Strong powers were needed to
achieve this and the ‘strong leader’ model enabled it but it was important that
the Council operated in a transparent and open way whilst trying to deliver
this agenda. He then referred to the North Walsham artificial all weather
football pitch project. Issues had now been flagged up about playing late
evening and he said that this was an example of failing to pick up on
potential problems at an early stage.

10. ClIr Dixon said that he welcomed attempts to deal with tensions between



33

34

35

36

37

those who advise and those who make decisions. He added that if issues
were not addressed early then the Council would run into problems at the
delivery stage. Optimism bias was the biggest threat as people felt as though
they had a stake in a project. Clir Penfold agreed, saying that it was
imperative that expert advice was sought during the early stages of a project.

ANNUAL ACCOUNTS UPDATE

The Head of Finance introduced this item. He explained that the accounts had not
yet been signed off by the External Auditors, EY. The Council was now entering into
the budget setting process and EY had advised that the statutory deadline for the
signing off of the accounts was in fact a ‘guideline’. He said that next year the
Committee needed to consider the concerns regarding capacity at EY, adding that it
was a timing issue not cash impact on council tax payers. He went onto say that if
the Council’s investments were showing a ‘paper’ loss then that must be reflected
and the Council must show how they would provide and demonstrate that there was
a reserve available. He said that he had requested legal opinion to support this
position and had been invited to meet with the auditors in mid-January. However, it
was likely that there would be similar challenges next year.

GOVERNANCE, RISK AND AUDIT COMMITTEE UPDATE AND ACTION LIST
The Committee noted the update and action list.
GOVERNANCE, RISK AND AUDIT COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME

The Internal Audit Manager sought the Committee’s views on how to approach the
self-assessment in March. It was agreed that there would be a training session for
committee members to be held as part of a working lunch ahead of the March
meeting.

EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC
CONFIDENTIAL INVESTIGATION

The Internal Audit Manager introduced this item. She explained that Members had
been provided with a briefing note rather than the full report which had been
provided to senior management. She outlined the process that had been undertaken
and referred Members to page 62 which explained that the investigation had not
established whether the money in question had been lost or stolen and for this
reason no fraud or corruption had been found. The Monitoring Officer added that
SLT would consider the full report at their next meeting. She confirmed that the
matter had been reported to the Police. She suggested that SLT provided a
response to the investigation report and this was then reported back to GRAC. She
added that SLT had not had an opportunity to discuss any actions arising from the
investigation yet and it might be useful for the committee to have sight of the
management response before they consider the matter fully.

1. The Chairman said that it appeared to be an issue of procedures and
controls and what could be learned going forwards.

2. ClIr J Stenton and Clir Cushing sought clarity on whether the Council should
continue to collect payments from the public in cash. The Internal Audit
Manager replied that payments for council tax and planning applications
were still paid for in cash sometimes and it was accepted that there was a



risk to doing so. SLT would consider whether cash payments should
continue. The investigation had shown that accounting records were
accurate. The discrepancy had been picked up through the reconciliation
process — as expected. The Monitoring Officer said that people still wanted to
pay in cash and it was important that a full range of payment options was
available. She said that it was not possible to completely eliminate an issue
such as this from happening again.

3. Clir Dixon said that he was concerned that the Council operated a system
which meant that it could be exposed to the possibility of money going
astray. There should be an audit trail in place to track and identify where
money was in the system.

The Chairman said that this must have caused huge anxiety for the staff involved
and it needed to be handled carefully.

The meeting ended at 3.45 pm.

Chairman



